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Introduction

The author was asked by Mott MacDonald to carry out an archaeological desk-based assessment and walk-over survey of the area to be affected by the proposed  water supply for the Fort William area. The assessment is to cover all areas affected by the project, both temporarily and permanently, and includes two reservoir sites, a wellfield, water treatment works, connecting pipelines and access tracks and a temporary haul road. The object of the assessment is to identify known archaeological sites and locate unrecorded sites or areas of archaeological interest lying within the vicinity of these works which might be adversely affected by the project. Recommendations will be made to minimise the effect of the project on the archaeological record. These recommendations might include minor alterations to the design of the project to avoid archaeological features, or, where alteration proves impractical, further recording of the archaeological features or monitoring of work in progress by an archaeologist. Any decision on the implementation of these recommendations will be made by the Senior archaeologist in charge of the project at Highland Council.

Method

The following resources were consulted for the desk-based assessment:

· The Sites and Monuments Record held by the Archaeology Unit within the Department of Planning and Development at Highland Council in Inverness.

· The NMRS database of the Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Scotland in Edinburgh

· The Air Photograph Collection in the National Monuments Record of Scotland

· The Map library of the National Library of Scotland, in Edinburgh

The following book provided useful background information on the history of the area:

· Robert Somers: Letters from the Highlands on the Famine of 1846 (1848)

The desk-based assessment was followed by a rapid walk-over survey of all the areas to be affected by the project, carried out on 24-25 August 2001. Weather conditions were bright and clear, but the vegetation cover, particularly bracken, was high, reducing visibility of low lying archaeological features.

Archaeological Background

No prehistoric features have been recorded in the vicinity of the project. The nearest evidence for prehistoric settlement is at Leanachan, south of Spean Bridge. The earliest archaeological features recorded in the Highland and National databases within the general area of the present project date to the second half of the 18th century, notably General Wade’s military road up the Great Glen and the High Bridge over the River Spean. Features dating to the period of Clearances and improvements are recorded, particularly the crofting townships established at the beginning of, and abandoned by the end of the 19th century.

Historical Background

The earliest detailed survey of Scotland, carried out by Timothy Pont in the 1580s, records the three settlements of Camisky, Lindalie and Kilmonivaig on the east bank of the River Lochy, and no settlement along the south bank of the River Spean until Insh, south of the present Roy Bridge. Two hundred years later, Roy’s Military Survey gives a more detailed picture of settlement in the area immediately prior to the Clearances. Camisky has emerged as the more important settlement, with what appears to be a house within a rectangular enclosure, with a small township to the north. Linadie is marked as three separate clusters of dwellings and Kilmonivaig as two. A road passes through all these settlements, joining another road just south of Kilmonivaig, which has crossed the River Lochy from Moy. Roy also notes a small settlement at Highbridge, on the military road just west of the bridge. Areas of cultivation are recorded on both sides of the road along the River Lochy. This is a picture of the pattern of settlement in this area immediately prior to the reorganization of the estate.

This estate was in 1800 part of the extensive possessions Marquis of Huntly. It is in the first decade of the 19th century that the estate was reorganized, forming a small number of large sheep farms, including Camisky, which was also partly arable. The surplus population of the estate was settled in crofts at Aonachan, Brackletter, Kilmonivaig and others further south. Linadie appears to cease to exist as a township, and it is unclear whether it was included in the farm of Camisky or the crofts at Kilmonivaig, but as the Kilmonivaig crofts are described as being particularly small, the former is more likely. 

The crofting townships appear to have failed during the 19th century, probably due to a combination of the scarcity of paid labour after the completion of the Caledonian Canal and the effects of the 1846 famine. Kilmonivaig is now a farm, with cottages rented out for anglers and other croft buildings standing as ruins. Only one house is inhabited at Brackletter, and the land at Highbridge appears to have become part of the grazings of Auchindaul.

Although Lindalie appears to have been subsumed by neighbouring holdings, the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map of 1874 indicated several roofed buildings, suggesting a small population. These roofed buildings are all located east of the Allt an Oir and now lie under the two modern houses. West of the Allt an Oir, three small unroofed buildings or structures are marked, together with a path leading east from the road and sections of dyke. By the 2nd edition OS map, a fenceline has appeared, running from Lindalie to Achnaboban and presumably marking the march between the grazings of Camisky and Kilmonivaig. This would give the boundary of the two holdings as being the Allt an Oir, thus dividing Linadie and locating the farmsteads inhabited as late as 1874 within the Kilmonivaig croftlands, and the buildings ruined by 1874 within Camisky Farm.

Highbridge is not mentioned  by Somers as having been laid out in crofting lots, but the 1st edition Ordnance survey map indicates a number of farmsteads scattered around the arable land, in a similar configuration to the Brackletter crofts. A map of 1830 marks the road from Kilmonivaig to Highbridge as completed, and the settlement of Highbridge as having shifted from by the bridge to the junction of this new road and the military road.

Evidence from Aerial Photographs

Aerial photographs from 1946 and 1964 confirm the location of the main ruins at Lindalie and Highbridge as indicated by the early Ordnance Survey maps, and an absence of visible archaeological features on the high, now afforested ground between Lindalie and Highbridge, and at Blar Odhar. West of Lindalie, by the Allt a t-Saighdear, are three patches of marks which would appear to indicate ploughlines or rigs. The lines are not parallel and are not to be confused with the ploughing of land for forestry which had commenced by 1964. None are visible in the area of the proposed water treatment works.

Desk-Based Assessment: Conclusions

Historical evidence and aerial photographs indicate that it is highly unlikely that any archaeological features would lie within the areas of mature forestry at Blar Odhar and behind Lindalie, or on the low lying ground along the bank of the River Lochy. It is, however, likely that archaeological features connected with the pre-Clearance settlement at Lindalie would be located south of the road between the proposed water treatment works at Allt an t-Saighdear and the pipeline routes at the Allt an Oir.

At Highbridge, the conclusion of the desk-based assessment is that the temporary haul road would avoid all recorded archaeological features apart from General Wade’s military road, which it would inevitably adjoin at its northern end.

The Walk-Over Survey

For the purposes of the walk-over survey, the project has been divided into the following areas:

1. Blar Odhar, Reservoir Site, with permanent access road and pipeline corridor to point of interface with the existing grid.

2. Highbridge Temporary Haul Road

3. Wellfield adjacent to the River Lochy

4. Allt an t-Saighdear, Water Treatment Works

5. Pipeline Corridors between Allt an t-Saighdear and the Camisky Reservoir site

6. Camisky Reservoir Site

7. Access road to Camisky Reservoir Site

A brief description is given below of each archaeological feature located during the survey, but the potential effect of the project on the feature and recommendations for mitigating measures are given later.

1. Blar Odhar Reservoir Site, access road and pipeline corridor: No archaeological     features were located within this area.

2. Highbridge, temporary haul road: the following archaeological features were noted within this area:

H1. General Wade’s Military Road at NN 1973 8195. The road is a well-preserved grassy track running between Highbridge and Auchindaul (Photo no. 1). At Highbridge a section of it is incorporated into the metalled road, and it is with the metalled road that the haul road forms its north junction. The original track just to the west has a good early stone dyke along its southern edge, this dyke being low and broad with a steep batter. Along the section of metalled road, this has deteriorated to no more than a retaining wall, not rising above the height of the field (Photo no. 2). On the north side of the road, there is now no visible dyke along the original road, but along the metalled section there is a grass-covered dyke with the same profile as the southern stone dyke (Photo no. 3)

H2. Turf Dyke at NN 1980 1811 This dyke is marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map as crossing the entire enclosed lands of Highbridge, but is now only visible as a turf dyke intermittently for the first 100m. Eroded sections (Photo no. 4) show little stone content, which is probably why it has disappeared completely further south, through ploughing or erosion.

3. Wellfield: No archaeological features were located within this area.

4. Allt an t-Saighdear Water Treatment Works:  No archaeological features were located within this area. There is a small, fairly recent dam on the stream, presumably a water supply for the house below, but this is outside the area of the water treatment works.

5. Pipeline Corridors between Allt an t-Saighdear and Camisky reservoir site. The following archaeological features were noted in the vicinity of the proposed pipeline routes:

L1. Trackway from NN 1614 8183 to NN 1652 8211 This trackway, visible as a grassy depression, runs east up the slope from the road, then turns NE to follow the contour. It meets what may be the remains of a head dyke and runs just below this (Photo no.5) until it crosses the small stream south of Lindalie, where it meets a second track rising east up the bank from the road. This second track is marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map and runs to the buildings north of the Allt an Oir. It is not, however, visible on the ground between the two streams. Between the first trackway and the road, within the area that can be presumed to have been enclosed by the head dyke are several features indicating obsolete land use, including a cultivation patch at NN 1643 8201 (Photo no. 6) consisting of six short rigs, aligned NNW-SSE and approximately 8m. in length, which appears at some stag to have been enclosed by a wooden fence. This feature is clearly visible on the aerial photographs although the ground here is now very wet and mossy.

L2. Building at NN 1654 8213 The footings of a building aligned NE-SW and measuring approximately 4.5m by 8m. (Photo no. 7) The remaining stones are fairly large, forming double skin walls. This building is located at the southern corner of a level platform of well-drained ground with improved grassland still present, at the top of the raised beach line overlooking the River Lochy (Photo no. 8). It is one of the three structure marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map.

L3. Structure at NN 1655 8213. Approximately 6m. ENE of L2 is an area of small mounds and indentations, partly cut into the bank. The mounds proved to consist of small field-clearance type stones (Photo no. 9) and it was initially considered to represent field clearance or possibly a well site. This is however the location of a second structure marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map, so the field clearance may be a later use of the site.

L4. Building at NN 1652 8217 This building is aligned NW-SE and measure approximately 6.5m by 3.5m. The walls appear to consist of a single skin of large stones (Photo no. 10) now very overgrown with grass. This appears to be the third structure marked on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map.

L5. Enclosure at NN 1654 8220 This small trapezoidal enclosure is marked on the present pathfinder map but not on the early edition Ordnance Survey maps. It occupies a slight rise. It is notable for containing a mature tree, although it is not clear whether this was planted or self-seeded. The rise has been colonized by gorse, leaving only the south part of the enclosure visible. It is formed by low grass-covered banks (Photo no. 11)

L6. Turf Dyke at NN 1667 8213 This is possibly a continuation of the head dyke which was noted further west. This section extends SW approximately 30m. from the fence then curves W before ending abruptly (Photo no. 12) It is visible as a grassy bank standing up to 1m in height.

6.  Camisky Reservoir Site: No archaeological features were located in the vicinity of this site.

7.  Access Road to Camisky Reservoir Site: no archaeological features were located along the route of the access road.

Recommendations

1. Site H1, General Wade’s Military Road and dykes. It is inevitable that the construction of the temporary haul road and the widening of the corner at the junction will cause damage to features at this point. However, the military road has already been incorporated into the metalled road and could not be described as intact archaeology, and the dykes have already been damaged by ditching and road construction. It is felt that the damage to the archaeological record will be low. It may however be considered useful for an archaeologist to be present to monitor the corner widening and breaking through the dykes, to record any archaeological information which may be revealed. Any decision on future action at this location will be made in consultation with the senior archaeologist in charge of the project at Highland Council.

2. Site H2, Turf Dyke. It is unfortunate that the haul road will be cutting through the last extant section of this turf dyke, and may effectively remove it entirely. It is however not felt that it would be beneficial to reinstate the dyke after the removal of the haul road, or that further archaeological information would be obtained by recording or monitoring at this site. It is considered probably adequate that the feature be recorded within this report.

3. Site L1, Trackway. As the pipeline is likely to run directly along the roadside at the point where the track begins, the damage to this feature will be minimal and it is not considered necessary to recommend any mitigating measures.

4. Sites L2, L3, L4, L5  Structures at Lindalie. One arm of the pipelines passes directly through the platform of this farmstead. It will pass close to Site L3 and L4, but should be able to avoid damaging them, while Sites L2 and L5 are sufficiently far enough from the route to be unaffected. It is recommended that at the very least, all of these structures are identified on the ground and marked before the precise route of the pipeline is determined, so that a line can be taken to avoid sites L3 and L4, and to avoid accidental damage to the features from vehicles or the laying out of materials. It may, furthermore, be considered necessary for an archaeologist to be present on site during the excavation work along this section, to monitor the protection of these features and to record any associated archaeological features which may be revealed during excavation. Any decision on further archaeological input in this area will be made in consultation with the Senior Archaeologist in charge of the project at Highland Council.

5. Site L6, Turf Dyke. This feature will probably be almost entirely removed by the excavation of the pipeline trench, but it is not considered that any further archaeological information would be gained by monitoring the excavations. It might be considered worthwhile for further measured recording to be carried out before any work commences. Any decision on further archaeological input on this feature will be made in consultation with the Senior Archaeologist in charge of the project at Highland Council.

Archaeological Conclusions

The features identified at Lindalie west of the Allt an Oir would appear to constitute the buildings of one farmstead rather than a larger township. This suggests that the three settlements marked on Roy’s Military Survey of the 1780s were three separate small farmsteads, the other two now lying under the modern houses. Although no buildings were identified during this rapid survey, it appears that all the land immediately above the flood plain west of Lindalie was in use, with cultivation patches on the better ground. It is unfortunate that the two houses were built without any archaeological investigation of the ruins east of the Allt an Oir, and it is hoped that no further development takes place in this area without a more complete archaeological survey.
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The Photographs:

1. Site H1. General Wade’s Military Road, view west from the junction with the metalled road.

2. Site H1. Junction of temporary haul road with military road, showing the dyke/retaining wall on the south side of the road

3. Site H1. North side of the road, showing the dyke just east of the junction with the temporary haul road  and corner widening.

4. Site H2. Turf dyke, showing an eroded section at approximately the point where it will be crossed by the temporary haul road.

5. Site L1, trackway (centre) and head dyke (left of picture) west of Lindalie farmstead

6. Site L1, cultivation patch west of Lindalie, view from the east.

7. Site L2, building, view from the east.

8. General view of Lindalie West Farmstead from the east. Site L1 is at the far left of the platform, Site L4 is within the patch of bracken in the mid- center. Site L5 is in front of the gorse patch on the far right. The pipeline route crosses this are from near right to far left.

9. Site L3, view from the north, with vegetation cleared to show stone piles.

10. Site L4, building, view from the east.

11. Site L5, enclosure, view from the south

12. Site L6, head dyke, view from the west.
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